!	
1	IN THE SUPREME COURT	Γ OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
2		
3		
4		Electronically Filed
5	STEVEN DALE FARMER,) NO. 65935 Jun 12 2015 01:50 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman
. 6	Appellant,) Clerk of Supreme Court
7	vs.	
8	, vs.)
9	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	<u></u>
10	Respondent.	
11	ixespondent.	_)
12	ADDELL ANTES ANTE	NIDED ODENING DDIEE
13	APPELLANT'S AIVIE	ENDED OPENING BRIEF
14	(Appeal from Jud	Igment of Conviction)
15	PHILIP J. KOHN	STEVEN B. WOLFSON
16	CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF.	CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY.
17	309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610	200 Lewis Avenue, 3 rd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155
18	(702) 455-4685	(702) 455-4711
19	Attomosy for Appellant	ADAM LAXALT

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

RC was admitted to Centennial Hills Hospital on May 15, 2008 after having two seizures. (X:1829). After spending a night in the hospital, she accused Certified Nursing Assistant ("CNA") Steven Farmer of multiple counts of sexual assault, indecent exposure and open and gross lewdness. (X:1883).

RC initially raved about Mr. Farmer's attentiveness in the ER, and even obtained his personal cell phone number, which she later claimed she needed so she could write him a "letter of recommendation". (X:1870). After taking such good care of RC, Mr. Farmer allegedly began assaulting her in

² Counts 1,2,4,8,9,11,13 & 15 involved open or gross lewdness and Count 15 involved indecent exposure.(III:493).

the elevator around 3:00 a.m. on May 16, 2008, when he transported her from the ER to her room on the Seventh Floor of the hospital. (X:1872-73,1920).

RC claimed that in the elevator, Mr. Farmer's demeanor "changed".

(X:1873). She claimed he adjusted her blankets, "rubbed the inside of [her] thigh" and told her to "relax". (X:1873). When they got to the room, RC claimed Mr. Farmer again told her to "relax", continued adjusting her blankets, and eventually began penetrating her vagina with his fingers. (X:1875). During the assault, Mr. Farmer allegedly told her to "look at" and "taste" his fat fingers. (X:1876). RC claimed Mr. Farmer said, "all I want to do is make you cum." (I:31).

When the penetration stopped, RC claimed Mr. Farmer started squeezing her breasts underneath her gown "really hard" and telling her how "beautiful" they were. (X:1877). RC claimed he rubbed her face with the back of his hands, then put his mouth on her vagina and alternated between licking it and penetrating it with his fingers. (X:1878-79). According to RC, the entire incident lasted approximately 15 minutes. (X:1924,1930).

After the alleged rape, at 4:45 a.m., Nurse Christine Murray and CNA Carine Brown visited RC's room and had a conversation with her. (XI:2073). RC did not appear scared or afraid, nor did she say **anything** about having just been raped. (XI:2076-78; XIII:2618,2620-21). Instead, RC said she

1-0

needed to go to the bathroom, asked if it was "just girls in the room", then began pulling off her clothes. (XIII:2618-19). Brown and Murray found her behavior odd and decided to "stay together" and "watch each other's back" with RC going forward.³ (XIII:2619). Although Brown and Murray visited RC's room approximately six different times that night, RC never reported a rape during these visits. (XI:2074,2076).

but hung up because she was worried that Mr. Farmer could hear her dialing 911. (X:1952). Yet, RC's phone did not show **any** 911 calls placed until 7:54 a.m. (X:1952).⁴ Although RC claimed she also used her cell phone to take pictures during the alleged assault, the only photographs taken showed time-

This was not the first time RC acted strangely during her hospital stay. According to Nurse Karen Goodhart who initially treated RC in the ER, RC seemed "just a little off". (X:2012,2017). When Goodhart attempted to put RC on a bed pan, RC "threw the sheets back" and exposed herself with the door open, prompting Goodhart to say, "woah, let me close the door." (X:2017). At another point, a male ER nurse named Ray refused to go into RC's room to treat her. (X:2017). RC started crying because Ray would not come back and asked, "have I been a bad patient?" to find out why Ray would not see her. (X:2018). According to Goodhart, RC exhibited drugseeking-behaviors from the time she arrived at the hospital. Although RC had taken "enough meds to kill a horse" Goodhart noted that "she sucked it up like candy" and it did not really seem to faze her. (X:2011). Despite her drowsiness, RC always "seemed to wake up quickly when it was for more pain medication." (X:2012).

⁴ The LVMPD records also indicated that a 21-second 911 call was placed at approximately 7:55 a.m. and that there was no conversation during the call. (XIII:2429-30).

stamps of 4:47 a.m. and 4:50 a.m. – **after** Murray and Brown first visited her. (X:1951).

At the time RC accused Mr. Farmer, she had already filed for

bankruptcy twice, was unemployed, and had walked away from a home that was in foreclosure. (X:1970-71). Although RC denied contacting the media, nine calls were placed from her cell phone to Channel 8 News within days of the alleged assault, between May 17, 2008 and May 18, 2008. (X:1898-1900). In fact, just one day after she was released from the hospital, RC contacted attorney Neil Hyman, who came to represent her in the civil lawsuit she filed against Centennial Hills. (X:1898). Though RC claimed she just wanted the media to "leave her alone", she subsequently went on television with her attorney asking for other people to come forward. (X:1906-07). While her lawsuit was pending, RC took out an \$80,000 loan against the future settlement of her lawsuit. (X:1971). RC eventually received a monetary settlement as a result of her claims against Mr. Farmer. (X:1897).

Shortly after RC came forward, the LVMPD prepared a "media release" indicating that there had been a sexual assault at Centennial Hills Hospital, providing the name and description of the accused, and directing anyone with information to contact Crime Stoppers. (XIII:2448;2459).

As a result of the media release and the ensuing television coverage, a number of Mr. Farmer's former patients came forward with claims that they previously had not seen fit to report:

On May 30, 2008, one of Mr. Farmer's co-workers, Nurse Margaret

Wolfe, identified DH as a potential victim. (XIII:2452-53). DH had visited the Centennial Hills ER on May 16, 2008 for issues related to asthma. (XII:2372). According to DH, Mr. Farmer opened the curtain to her room in the ER, introduced himself as "Steven Farmer", told her he was there to "check things out", then opened her gown and pressed on a couple of the EKG leads on her abdomen and lower chest area. (XII:2377-78). DH assumed he was making sure the leads were attached correctly. (XII:2389). As he finished examining the leads, his arm brushed against her right breast. (XII:2380,2389). The entire time, DH had a clear line of sight to the nursing station where Nurse Wolfe stood watching. (XII:2387). DH never complained about the incident and testified that "never in a million years" did she expect the LVMPD to ask her about her stay at Centennial Hills. (XII:2386,2392).

LS contacted the LVMPD on May 31, 2008. (XIII:2455). LS claimed that more than a month earlier, on April 26, 2008, Mr. Farmer had come into LS's room in the ER, introduced himself to LS and her two aunts who were

7

8

9

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

sitting in the room with her, and while making small-talk, he held the railings at the foot of her bed and began to slowly move his groin in a circular motion against her feet. (XII:2273-78).5 Although LS and her aunts thought the incident was odd, none of them complained until after the story hit the news. (XII:2248-49,2269-70,2283,2297-98).

On June 4, 2008, Timothy Lehan called Crime Stoppers on behalf of his girlfriend HS. (XIII:2459). Lehan claimed that on May 16, 2008, while HS was in the ER recovering from a seizure, Mr. Farmer offered to help untangle HS's EKG cables and then exposed HS's breasts, which Lehan did not believe was necessary. (IX:1750-52,1757-59;1761-62). HS told police that on another occasion, while Mr. Farmer was transporting her from the emergency room to her hospital room, Mr. Farmer said he needed to remove the EKG patches from her chest and opened her gown to her waist and removed some of the leads. (IX:1713-17). During the process, Mr. Farmer's forearm allegedly "grazed" her bared breasts. (IX:1718). Neither Lehan nor HS even discussed the incidents with one another until after the story hit the news. (IX:1814).

26

27

28

²⁴ 25

⁵ LS's aunt, Ada Dotson testified that she saw Mr. Farmer hold onto LS's feet, but he was not "thrusting his hips", moving his hips from side to side, or "pushing his groin" onto LS's feet. (XII:2247). LS's other aunt, Ernestine Smith, claimed that Mr. Farmer held LS's feet to his "groin area" and moved her feet against his groin. (XII:2258).

24

25

26

27

28

Finally, MP called 311 on June 15, 2008. (XIII:2461). MP claimed that she was "assaulted" by Mr. Farmer during her week-long stay at Centennial Hills Hospital between May 13, 2008 and May 20, 2008 while she (V:788-89). MP claimed that Mr. Farmer recovered from a seizure. introduced himself as "Steve", then repeatedly "attacked" her. (V:789-91). MP claimed that more than once, Mr. Farmer removed her sheets and "lifted [her] gown up" in a "billow[ing]" manner, high enough so he could see her "entire body", which was bare under the gown. (V:794). MP claimed she "woke up" to Mr. Farmer "pinching" and "rubbing" her nipples under her clothes. (V:792). Yet, MP admitted that Mr. Farmer told her one of her leads had become disconnected. (V:791-92). MP claimed that Mr. Farmer lifted her right leg and put his thumb in her anus. (V:796). Yet, Mr. Farmer explained his actions by telling her she had "some feces". (V:795). Although MP initially told detectives she did not know if Mr. Farmer had penetrated her vagina, MP subsequently claimed under oath that she knew he put his finger in her vagina, "maybe up to the [second] knuckle." (V:797). MP admitted that Mr. Farmer told her he was checking her catheter at the time. (V:796-97).

MP was admittedly under the influence of a strong cocktail of medications including Prozac, benzodiazepines, Dilantin and morphine.

 (V:808-09). MP admittedly could not move nor could she look down, so she did not actually see what Mr. Farmer was doing when he allegedly penetrated her rectum and vagina. (V:814-15). MP admitted she did not call the police, nor did she tell any other doctors or nurses what happened while she was at Centennial Hills. (V:823). Although MP claimed she told her two adult sons what happened, her sons did not report the assaults to the hospital staff, nor did they call the police either. (V:826;XIII:2556). Despite her mistrust of the hospital, she returned to Centennial Hills twice for treatment after the assault. (V:825;XIII:2578).

MP did not report the alleged assault until after one of her sons, a convicted felon, told her he saw on TV that other people were accusing Mr. Farmer of sexual assault. (V:801;XIII:2573). MP subsequently filed a lawsuit against Centennial Hills seeking monetary damages which was still pending during Mr. Farmer's trial. (V:833;XIII:2578).

Mr. Farmer was taken into police custody on May 16, 2008. (XIII:2403,2409). The State ultimately charged Mr. Farmer with eight counts of open or gross lewdness, two counts of indecent exposure, and five counts of sexual assault, based on the aforementioned incidents. (II:289-293). Although defense counsel opposed the joinder of all five victims in a single

case (II:254-88), the court found that joinder was permissible under the "common plan or scheme" doctrine. (IV:725-26).

Mr. Farmer sat in jail for nearly six years awaiting a trial that did not begin until February 3, 2014. (III:540). While Mr. Farmer awaited trial, MP committed suicide. (XIII:2572). Over defense objection, the court allowed the State to present MP's deposition as evidence at trial. (V:860-61). Mr.

Farmer was ultimately convicted of all but two of the charges against him: the count of indecent exposure involving DH that was allegedly witnessed by her boyfriend, and one count of oral sexual assault alleged by RC.⁶ (III:483-85).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In May of 2008, RC falsely accused Steve Farmer of rape. After Mr. Farmer was branded a rapist by the media, four additional patients came forward because they now believed that the intimate care they had received from him at the hospital was sexually motivated. Although Mr. Farmer's five accusers had factually distinct allegations, the trial court improperly joined all

⁶ Although RC was examined by a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE) who combed RC's pubic hair for debris including hair, saliva and skin cells (XI:2187-88), no saliva or hairs were found in RC's pubic hair to submit for DNA analysis. (XII:2327). This finding was significant because Mr. Farmer had a full beard and one would expect him to have left *some* DNA evidence had he engaged in cunnilingus with RC. (XIV:2176). However, the only DNA evidence connecting Mr. Farmer to RC was some "touch" DNA on her face –nothing on her vagina, breasts, inner thighs, or labia. (XII:2321-30).

counts in a single trial as part of a "common scheme or plan". The State ultimately used those unrelated counts to unfairly cross-corroborate each other and poison the jury against Mr. Farmer.

Throughout trial, the court permitted the State to elicit irrelevant and unduly prejudicial victim impact testimony from Mr. Farmer's accusers about their tragic personal lives, but prevented Mr. Farmer from effectively cross-examining them or presenting evidence to counter their claims. Although Mr. Farmer had not had a constitutionally adequate opportunity to cross-examine MP at her pre-trial deposition, the court nevertheless presented her videotaped deposition to the jury as evidence at trial. The State's witnesses improperly vouched for one another and the Prosecutor's closing arguments were riddled with misconduct. The trial court denied Mr. Farmer his right to a speedy trial and ultimately imposed a sentence amounting to cruel and unusual punishment. Accordingly, Mr. Farmer is entitled to have his convictions vacated, his case remanded, and new trials set.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY GRANTING THE STATE'S JOINDER MOTION AND DENYING THE DEFENSE'S SEVERANCE MOTION.

NRS 173.115 permits the joinder of offenses when they are "(1) Based on the same act or transaction; or (2) Based on two or more acts or

⁷(III:254-68).

transactions connected together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan." However, NRS 174.165 authorizes severance of counts if "it appears that a defendant or the State of Nevada is prejudiced by a joinder of offenses... in an indictment or information..."

Prior to trial, Mr. Farmer filed a motion to sever the counts involving his separate accusers so they could be tried separately.(II:269-88).

Specifically, Mr. Farmer asked the court to sever the counts involving RC, from the counts involving DH and HS, from the count involving LS, from a count involving Mr. Farmer's ex-girlfriend FR. (II:269;IV:718-19).

Although the court severed the one count involving Mr. Farmer's exgirlfriend, it denied the remainder of his severance motion. (III:321-22). In addition, over defense objection,⁷ the court granted the State's motion to consolidate the MP case (C249693) with the case involving RC, LS, HS and DH (C245739). (III:321-22).

The court ruled that the five accusers' claims could be joined in a single case because it deemed the claims to be part of "common plan or scheme". (IV:725-26). Yet, the court's ruling was an abuse of discretion that cannot be deemed harmless because it violated Mr. Farmer's constitutional right to due process and a fair trial. See Byars v. State, 130 Nev. Adv. Op.

85, --, 336 P.3d 939, 950 (2014) (citing Weber v. State, 121 Nev. 554, 570–71 (2005)) ("A district court has discretion to join or sever charges, and we review for harmless error a district court's misjoinder of charges.")

A. Joinder was not permissible under the "common scheme or plan" doctrine.

To join multiple offenses in the same case as part of a common scheme or plan, the offenses charged must "constitute an 'integral part of an overarching plan explicitly conceived and executed by the defendant."

Ledbetter v. State, 122 Nev. 252, 260-261 (2006) (quoting Rosky v. State, 121 Nev. 184, 196 (2005)) (other internal quotations and citations omitted). "The test is not whether the other offense has certain elements in common with the crime charged, but whether it tends to establish a preconceived plan which resulted in the commission of that crime." Id.

The court must engage in a "fact-specific analysis" to determine whether a "common plan or scheme" exists under NRS 173.115(2). Weber, 121 Nev. at 572. It is not enough for the crimes to have occurred close in time to one another or at a similar location. Rosky, 121 Nev. at 196. Rather, the court must find that the crimes were planned in advance as opposed to crimes of opportunity. Id.

Thus, in <u>Richmond v. State</u>, this Court ruled that a defendant did not engage in a common scheme or plan to sexually abuse his neighbors' children

Nev. at 542.

where he was merely "taking advantage of whichever potential victims came his way". 118 Nev. 924, 934 (2002) (defendant's "crimes were not part of a single overarching plan, but independent crimes, which Richmond did not plan until each victim was within reach").

In the sexual assault context, it is absolutely essential that the court consider the degree of similarity between the crimes alleged when analyzing the existence of a "common scheme or plan". Cipriano v. State, 111 Nev. 534, 542 (1995). In Cipriano, this Court ruled that the State had not shown a "common scheme or plan" because the evidence of sexual misconduct introduced by the State was not sufficiently similar to the crime charged. 111 Nev. at 542. Cipriano was accused of sexually molesting a woman by attempting to kiss her, then putting his hands down her pants, touching her vaginal area and breasts outside her clothing, and grabbing her buttocks. 111 Nev. at 537. This Court held that evidence that Cipriano had <u>also</u> molested his stepson's wife, holding her by the shoulders, trying to kiss her, making vulgar sexual comments, and running "his hand around the back seat of her car and attempt[ing] to touch her while she was riding in the front seat" was not sufficiently similar conduct to be part of a common scheme or plan. 111

⁸ <u>Cipriano</u> was overruled on other grounds by <u>State v. Sixth Judicial</u> <u>District Court</u>, 114 Nev. 739 (1998).

In this case, the district court determined that Mr. Farmer "was a CNA, had the access, used that access, and that position as a CNA to gain access" to patients which, *in and of itself*, was "enough to qualify as a common scheme and plan". (IV:726). Yet, the court's theory that Mr. Farmer used his job to gain access to victims is essentially the same theory that this Court rejected in **Richmond**. See **Richmond**,118 Nev. at 932 (no common scheme or plan where the defendant took "advantage of whichever potential victims came his way" and were not planned "until each victim was within reach.").

As defense counsel explained to the court, Mr. Farmer treated thousands of ER patients at Centennial Hills Hospital, but only five unrelated individuals had come forward. (II:278;IV:694). The State could not show that Mr. Farmer took the job as a CNA in order to secure potential victims of abuse. (II:278). Because these were alleged crimes of opportunity that were merely made possible by Mr. Farmer's position, there was no common scheme or plan under Nevada law. (II:278;IV:694).

Furthermore, although it is well-settled that "there must be some similarity to the sexual conduct" for joinder under the "common scheme or

⁹ The State's claim that Mr. Farmer was targeting "vulnerable" victims is ridiculous. Every single ER patient Mr. Farmer treated was there for an "emergency" and was, by definition, "vulnerable".

plan" doctrine, ¹⁰ the district court completely ignored that factor in ruling that the charges could be combined. The district court actually ruled that it "didn't matter" **how** Mr. Farmer allegedly abused his patients, or what "guise" he used to abuse them. (IV:727). All that mattered was that the abuse occurred "as a result of the position of employment in the hospital." (IV:727). This ruling was erroneous where the allegations of sexual misconduct differed so vastly from accuser to accuser. (II:279-80).

RC was the **only** accuser who claimed that Mr. Farmer engaged in an overt sexual assault with clear sexual intentions. RC testified that Mr. Farmer rubbed her inner thigh in a sexual manner, penetrated her vagina with his fingers and his mouth, told her to "look at" and "taste" his fat fingers, told her he wanted to make her "cum", squeezed her breasts while telling her how "beautiful" they were, and rubbed her face. (I:31;X:1873-77). There could be no mistaking the clear sexual nature of these allegations.

By contrast, the remaining accusers (DH, HS, LS and MP) described ambiguous conduct that could have been interpreted either sexually or non-sexually. None of the remaining accusers even came forward until after Mr. Farmer was branded a "rapist" in the media and they began to reevaluate his actions as "sexual" in nature. (XIV:2722-23).

¹⁰ See Cipriano, 111 Nev. at 542.

12 13

16 17

14

15

18 19

21

22

20

23 24

25 26

27

28

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