IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STEVEN DALE FARMER,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed
Jun 12 2015 01:50 p.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Case No. 65935 Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DEBORAH L. WESTBROOK Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #009285 309 South Third Street, Suite #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

Because Ms. Wolfe's termination for an unrelated infraction was irrelevant to her testimony and credibility, the court did not err. Appellant asserts it was relevant to demonstrate Ms. Wolfe's "bias" against Centennial Hills, but fails to realize that illustrating such a bias, if in fact it existed, would have harmed his case rather than helped it. Were Ms. Wolfe was biased *against* Centennial Hills, one would assume she would be more inclined to testify on Appellant's behalf. Thus, any possible bias Ms. Wolfe harbored toward Centennial Hills was irrelevant to whether Appellant provided appropriate patient care, as a dislike of the hospital would not explain how Ms. Wolfe's testimony might be colored *against* Defendant, whose employment was

_

³ Specifically, Ms. Wolfe testified as to the methods she uses when placing EKG leads on the chest of a female patient like Ms. Hanna, in efforts to keep from exposing the patient and making the patient uncomfortable. XII AA 2346.

also terminated. Further, because the infraction for which Ms. Wolfe was terminated was vastly different from that which Appellant committed, Ms. Wolfe's termination was rendered further irrelevant and properly excluded from Appellant's cross-examination.

D. Any Error Caused by the Court's Rulings With Respect to Cross-Examinations was Harmless.

Appellant was given a full opportunity to meaningfully confront the witnesses against him, yet harps on the court's refusal to allow him to engage in irrelevant, inappropriate questioning designed to accomplish nothing other than improperly attacking witness character where such character was not in issue. Appellant has failed to demonstrate that any of the court's appropriate restrictions, nor an accumulation of the restrictions, had any effect on the jury's verdict, and therefore has failed to establish prejudice.

THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR BY ADMITTING M.P.'S DEPOSITION

Appellant next argues the District Court erred in allowing M.P.'s deposition testimony to be played for the jury at trial, because Appellant was allegedly deprived of an opportunity for "effective" cross-examination during the deposition. AOB, p. 42.

As previously discussed, the deposition at issue was taken in lieu of trial testimony due to M.P.'s severe illness. V AA 784; III AA 412. M.P. gave sworn

testimony, and was cross-examined by Appellant's trial counsel, all of which was preserved by way of video recording. <u>Id</u>. at 785-835. M.P.'s unexpected death before trial rendered her unavailable. XIII AA 2572. Accordingly, the court allowed the State to introduce the deposition testimony at trial. II AA 308-309.

The Confrontation Clause bars admission of "testimonial" statements of a witness who does not appear at trial, unless the witness is unavailable and the defendant had a prior opportunity for cross-examination. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354 (2004). Only testimonial statements cause a declarant to be a "witness" for these purposes, and non-testimonial statements therefore do not implicate constitutional concerns. Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 821, 126 S.C.t 2266, 2273 (2006). The term "testimonial" contemplates statements made in the course of law-enforcement interrogation, sworn testimony in prior judicial proceedings, or formal depositions under oath. Id. at 826, 2276. By contrast, it follows that "non-testimonial" statements are those which are not made for the purpose of gathering evidence for possible use in a later prosecution. See Medina v. State, 122 Nev. ____, ___, 131 P.3d 15, 20 (2006).

This Court has held that, when determining whether a statement is testimonial or non-testimonial, "it is necessary to look at the totality of circumstances surrounding the statement." <u>Harkins v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 974, 986, 143 P.3d 706, 714 (2006). In this regard, the Court has noted that a statement is testimonial if it "would

lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial." Flores v. State, 121 Nev. 706, 718, 120 P.3d 1170, 1178-78 (2005). Because non-testimonial statements are not subject to the Confrontation Clause, their admissibility is governed by the relevant jurisdiction's hearsay laws. Crawford, 541 U.S. at 60, 124 S.Ct. at 1374. As such, this Court "recognize[s] dying declarations as an exception to the Sixth Amendment Confrontation Right." Harkins, 122 Nev. at 982, 143 P.3d at 711.

With respect to the requirement of a prior opportunity for cross-examination in this context, this Court has held that "the Confrontation Clause guarantees an *opportunity* for effective cross-examination, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish." <u>Chavez v. State</u>, 125 Nev. 328, 338, 213 P.3d 476, 483 (2009) (emphasis in original). This Court has further stated:

We will determine the adequacy of the opportunity on a case-by-case basis, taking into consideration such factors as the extent of discovery that was available to the defendant at the time of cross-examination and whether the magistrate judge allowed the defendant a thorough opportunity to cross-examine the witness.

<u>Id</u>. at 338-39, 484. This Court reviews confrontation clause violation claims *de novo*. Id. at 39, 484.

Here, Appellant's right to confrontation was not violated. Appellant fails to realize that, with the exception of the content of M.P.'s direct testimony at the deposition, none of the evidence or testimony he describes was testimonial in nature, or alternatively was not even introduced against him at trial. As previously explained in II (B), supra, the court did not unreasonably restrict Appellant's crossexamination of M.P. at the deposition. Thus, Appellant's right to the *opportunity* for effective cross-examination, which is all that is required by this Court, was not violated. Rather, as previously explained, counsel conducted a full crossexamination which included several attempts at impeaching M.P.'s credibility by challenging her ability to perceive Appellant's actions and her motives for accusing Appellant. This cross-examination was appropriately curtailed where it became irrelevant and repetitive, as is permitted by this Court. Accordingly, no Confrontation Clause violation occurred.

Furthermore, in considering "the discovery that was available to a defendant at the time of cross-examination," Appellant has not even *alleged* that the "information" he acquired after the deposition was unavailable at the time of the deposition. Rather, Appellant merely states his counsel "obtained additional information," and does not explain why such information was not obtained earlier. AOB, p. 43-646. Plainly, this does not equate to a deficient opportunity to cross-examine. Moreover, Appellant does not allege or indicate that any of this "new

information" was introduced at trial. With regard to the information pertaining to M.P.'s civil lawsuit against Centennial Hills in particular, the State has found no indication in the record that interrogatories and other pleadings were ever presented to the jury. Accordingly, as the evidence was never admitted against Appellant, there cannot possibly be a Confrontation Clause violation.

Appellant also notes that he was deprived of the opportunity to cross-examine M.P. regarding an excerpt from her diary, which he did not obtain until after trial had begun, and which the District Court allegedly admitted as a dying declaration. AOB, p. 46. First, Appellant apparently forgets that *he* attempted to introduce the diary, over the State's objection, as M.P.'s dying declaration. XIII AA 2509-24. Thus, if Appellant was in fact deprived of his right to cross-examine M.P. regarding the contents of the diary, he imposed that deprivation upon himself and is estopped from raising the issue here. See Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 9, 38 P.3d 163, 168 (2002) (where defendant invites error at the trial by making certain requests of the trial court, he is directly estopped from then raising that error on appeal).

Second, the diary was not actually admitted as evidence, but rather, the parties agreed to stipulate to a jury admonishment that the State was not setting forth the theory that M.P. committed suicide because of Appellant. XIII AA 2521-24. Further, Appellant stipulated before trial that the fact M.P. committed suicide would be admitted, therefore precluding him from now implying that the State's mere mention

of the suicide was improper. XIII AA 2511. Moreover, as Appellant argued at trial, the excerpt of the diary was intended by M.P. as a suicide note, and contained no mention of Appellant. See XIV AA 2829-31. Thus, plainly, it was not intended for use in a future prosecution and therefore was non-testimonial evidence. Appellant essentially admitted as much when he argued the statement was a dying declaration, which this Court has held is exempt from the ambit of Confrontation Clause concerns.

Additionally, Appellant makes a ludicrous claim that his right to confrontation was violated because he was not able to cross-examine the deceased M.P. regarding her reasons for committing suicide. AOB, p. 46. Plainly, committing suicide is not testimonial evidence, and therefore the Confrontation Clause is not implicated. Moreover, as explained above, the State and Appellant stipulated to a jury admonishment that the State was not setting forth the theory that M.P. committed suicide as a result of Appellant's conduct. Accordingly, Appellant was not entitled to an opportunity for cross-examination of a deceased person – which would have virtually, physically impossible – regarding the issue.

Similarly, M.P.'s son's testimony that his mother was afraid of male medical professionals following the assault was also not testimonial in nature, and does not implicate the Confrontation Clause. <u>See</u> AOB, p.47; XIII AA 2568. Surely, a statement made by an ill mother to her son for the purposes of medical treatment

was not made for possible use in criminal prosecution. <u>See Medina v. State</u>, 122 Nev. ____, 131 P.3d 15, 20 (2006). Thus, Appellant was not entitled to a prior opportunity for cross-examination regarding this statement, and its admission did not implicate Confrontation Clause concerns. Accordingly, Appellant has failed to demonstrate any Confrontation Clause violation.

IV NO PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT WAS COMMITTED

Appellant next argues the State committed various instances of prosecutorial misconduct, each of which is addressed separately below. AOB, p. 47.

This Court employs a two-step analysis when considering prosecutorial misconduct claims. Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). First, the Court determines whether the prosecutor's conduct was improper. Id. Second, if the conduct was improper, the court determines whether it warrants reversal. Id. With respect to the second step, this Court will not reverse a conviction based on improper prosecutorial misconduct if it was harmless error, which in turn depends on whether the misconduct is of a constitutional dimension. Id. at 1188-89. Generally, error of a constitutional dimension requires impermissible comment on the exercise of a specific constitutional right, or repeated misconduct that "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." Id. at 1189, 196 P.3d at 476. If the error is not of a constitutional

dimension, the Court will reverse only if the error substantially affected the jury's verdict. <u>Id</u>.

Additionally, this Court will consider a prosecutor's comments in context, and will not lightly overturn a criminal conviction "on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone." <u>Leonard v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 53, 81, 17 P.3d 397, 414 (2001) (citing <u>United States v. Young</u>, 470 U.S. 1, 11, 105 S.Ct. 1038 (1985). Statements construed by the defense as "unflattering characterizations of a defendant will not provoke a reversal when such descriptions are supported by the evidence." <u>Miller v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 92, 100, 110 P.3d 53, 59 (2007). Moreover, where evidence of guilt is overwhelming, even aggravated prosecutorial misconduct may constitute harmless error. King v. State, 116 Nev. 349, 356, 998 P.2d 1172, 1176 (2000).

A. The State Did Not Improperly Vouch for the Credibility of Witnesses.

Appellant first contends the State improperly vouched for the credibility of several witnesses during closing argument. AOB, p. 48. A prosecutor "vouches" for a witness by "plac[ing] the prestige of the government behind the witness by providing personal assurances of the witness's veracity." <u>Browning v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 347, 359, 91 P.3d 39, 48 (2004) (citing <u>United States v. Kerr</u>, 981 F.2d 1050, 1053 (9th Cir. 1992)) (internal quotations omitted). Where a prosecutor injects his "personal opinion" and "individual impressions" of a witness's credibility using

statements such as "I think [witness] was very candid," improper vouching occurs. Kerr, 981 F.2d at 1053.

Here, as is clear from the prosecutor's statements quoted by Appellant on pages 48-50 of his Opening Brief, no personal assurances of veracity or expressions of individual impressions were made. At no time did the prosecution state, or even imply, a personal belief as to witness credibility by using prohibited statements such as "I think," etc., and therefore never "placed the prestige of the government" behind any witness. Rather, as plainly demonstrated by the quoted, the State simply reiterated the testimony of several witnesses and spoke of the circumstances surrounding those witnesses' accusations against Appellant. See AOB, p. 48-50. Importantly, Appellant did not object to any of the statements, further demonstrating that they were not even mildly objectionable. See Id. Thus, any reference to witness credibility by the State does not warrant reversal.

B. The State Did Not Improperly Disparage the Defense.

Next, Appellant complains the State wrongly "disparaged" the defense. AOB, p. 51. A prosecutor has a duty not to belittle the defendant or his case. <u>Earl v. State</u>, 111 Nev. 1304, 1311, 904 P.2d 1029, 1033 (1995). Namely, a prosecutor should not disparage "legitimate defense tactics." <u>Barron v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 767, 780, 783 P.2d 444, 452 (1989). However, this Court has held that it is proper for the prosecution "to state that…the defendant is not credible and then to show how the evidence

supports that conclusion." <u>Id</u>. Even where disparaging remarks are made, this Court generally will not reverse a conviction if there is substantial evidence against a defendant, and little evidence to support his theory of the case. <u>Id</u>.

Here, Appellant appears to advocate for a blanket rule that the State be precluded from commenting on the Defendant's credibility or case in *any* way, shape, or form. First, Appellant takes issue with the prosecutor's innocuous statement during rebuttal closing: "I'm sure you're all very familiar with the saying, 'fool me once, shame on you. Fool me twice, shame on me. Five times and Steven Farmer isn't fooling anyone." AOB, p. 51; XIV AA 2378. Arguably, just as defense attorneys often begin their opening statement or closing argument by referencing an old adage to remind the jury that "there's two sides to every story," this harmless adage is commonly used by prosecutors and plaintiff's attorneys in trial practice. The State is unclear as to how this comment constituted "ridicule" of Appellant or "asked the jury to consider Mr. Farmer's propensity to commit sex crimes," as Appellant fails to explain either conclusory allegation.

Importantly, the prosecution followed up the statement by explaining how the evidence demonstrated that Appellant abused his position as a CNA to covertly sexually assault several vulnerable patients under the guise of providing patient care. XIV AA 2738-41. Thus, the statement was plainly intended to demonstrate how Appellant's theory of the case was undercut by the evidence, as is permitted pursuant

to <u>Barron</u>, supra. The harmless statement simply did not rise to level of "ridicule," or constitute an allegation so prejudicial that it amounted to prosecutorial misconduct.

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